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activities has been entered into intelligence databases.  According to the commanding officer of 

the NYPD’s Intelligence Division, its mapping activities have not generated a single lead, nor led 

to a single terrorism investigation. 

3. The unlawful policy and practice that these activities reflect are referred to here as 

the NYPD’s “Muslim Surveillance Program.”  Through the Muslim Surveillance Program, the 

NYPD has imposed an unwarranted badge of suspicion and stigma on law-abiding Muslim New 

Yorkers, including Plaintiffs in this action. 

4. Plaintiffs are Muslim New Yorkers—religious and community leaders, mosques, 

and a charitable organization—caught in the dragnet of the NYPD’s sweeping Muslim 

Surveillance Program.  Among other violations, Plaintiffs have been variously subjected to 

unlawful surveillance by NYPD informants, videocameras, and plainclothes officers, all based 

on their religion and without any evidence of wrongdoing. 

5. As a result of unlawful NYPD spying, each of the Plaintiffs’ religious goals, 

missions, and practices have been profoundly harmed.  For example, Plaintiffs who are religious 

leaders and mosques have curtailed the religious and personal guidance that they provide to 

congregants for fear that this guidance might be misconstrued by NYPD officers or informants, 

resulting in additional unjustified scrutiny, or worse.  Religious leaders and mosques have also 

had to record sermons for fear that NYPD officers or informants will take their statements out of 

context, or accuse them of saying things that they did not say.  Plaintiff religious leaders’ 

ministry, expression, and study have been significantly chilled.  Knowledge and justifiable fear 

of NYPD surveillance have diminished congregants’ attendance at the Plaintiff mosques, 

prompted distrust of newcomers out of concern that they are NYPD informants, and prevented 

the mosques from fulfilling their mission of serving as religious sanctuaries.  Knowledge and 

justifiable fear of NYPD surveillance have also diminished the ability of a Plaintiff charity and 

one of its leaders to raise funds, and interfered with their mission of promoting and providing 

charity to needy New Yorkers in fulfillment of one of Islam’s primary tenets. 

6. Through this action, Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the NYPD’s policy and 

practice of subjecting them to suspicionless surveillance because of their Muslim faith violates 

their fundamental rights to equal protection and free exercise of religion under the U.S. 

Constitution and the Constitution of the State of New York, and the guarantee of government 

neutrality toward all religions under the U.S. Constitution.  Plaintiffs also seek an injunction 
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against the continuation of the NYPD’s unconstitutional policy and practice, and an order 

requiring the NYPD to destroy the information about them that it has secretly collected in 

violation of their constitutional rights. 

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 because this lawsuit alleges violations of the U.S. Constitution and raises 

questions of federal law.  Jurisdiction is also based upon 28 U.S.C. § 1343 because the lawsuit 

seeks relief for the deprivation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights under color of state law. 

8. This Court has the authority to grant declaratory and injunctive relief, and any 

other appropriate relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 2201, and 2202.  A substantial, 

actual, and continuing controversy exists between the parties with respect to the Plaintiffs’ 

claims for declaratory and injunctive relief. 

9. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of New York under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this 

District. 

PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff Hamid Hassan Raza is a U.S. citizen who is a resident of Brooklyn, New 

York, with his wife and child.  He serves as imam at Masjid Al-Ansar, where his duties include 

leading daily prayer services, conducting religious educational classes for the mosque 

community and especially its youth, and providing spiritual and personal counseling to 

congregants.  Since at least 2008, Imam Raza has been subject to NYPD surveillance. 

11. Plaintiff Masjid Al-Ansar is a Muslim house of worship founded in 2008 and 

located at 2230 Bath Avenue in Brooklyn, New York.  It is registered as a 501(c)(3) organization 

under the name Al-Ansar Center, Inc.  In addition to holding daily prayer services, Masjid Al-

Ansar provides religious education and counseling to its congregants and seeks to foster an 

inclusive religious community, especially for youth.  Since at least 2008, Masjid Al-Ansar has 

been subject to NYPD surveillance. 

12. Plaintiff Asad (“Ace”) Dandia is a twenty-year-old U.S. citizen who is a resident 

of Brooklyn, New York.  He is a sophomore at a City University of New York community 

college, studying liberal arts.  He aims to become a social worker.  Plaintiff Dandia is a 

practicing Muslim.  He is a co-founder and Vice 



 

4 
 

organization.  Since at least March 2012, Pl
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18. Defendant Raymond W. Kelly is the Police Commissioner for the City of New 

York, with supervisory authority over all officers and operations of the NYPD, including 

responsibility for training, recruiting, and managing all members of the NYPD Intelligence 

Division.  He is sued here in his official capacity. 

19. Defendant David Cohen is the Deputy Commissioner of Intelligence for the City 

of New York, with supervisory authority over the NYPD’s Intelligence Division. In that role, 

Defendant Cohen oversees the gathering, analysis, and distribution of intelligence, and is 

responsible for training, recruiting, and managing all members of the NYPD Intelligence 

Division.  He is sued here in his official capacity. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. The NYPD’s Muslim Surveillance Program 
 

20. Since at least 2002, the NYPD has conducted its Muslim Surveillance Program 

through its Intelligence Division, which currently includes, or previously included: (1) the 

Demographics Unit (which was renamed the Zone Assessment Unit in 2010); (2) the Intelligence 

Analysis Unit; (3) the Cyber Intelligence Unit; and (4) the Terrorist Interdiction Unit. 

21. The NYPD developed its Muslim Surveillance Program under the leadership of 

David Cohen, a retired thirty-five-year veteran of the Central Intelligence Agency, who became 

the NYPD’s Deputy Commissioner for Intelligence in 2002. 

22. The analytic underpinnings of the Muslim Surveillance Program are reflected in a 

2007 report titled “Radicalization in the West: The Homegrown Threat,” written by two senior 

analysts in the NYPD Intelligence Division, and published by the NYPD (the “NYPD 

Radicalization Report”).  The NYPD Radicalization Report claims to identify a linear, four-stage 

“radicalization process” by which individuals transform into terrorists. The process laid out in 

the NYPD Radicalization Report draws a broad profile and treats with suspicion those who 

identify as Muslim, harbor Islamic beliefs, and/or engage in Islamic practices. 

23. According to the NYPD Radicalization Repor


















































